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Remedies 
There are two remedies available to the shipper who demonstrates that 

a rate is not reasonable. The shipper can receive damages, based on the 
shipments it made during the damages period, for the amount it overpaid under 
49 U.S.C. Section 11704(b). This recovery is limited in two ways. First, the 
“statutory 180% R/VC level is also the floor for any rate relief.”186 Second, the 
damages period is limited to the two-year period before the filing of the 
complaint per 49 U.S.C. Section 11705(c). The STB can also prescribe the 
maximum reasonable rate the shipper can charge for future shipments under 49 
U.S.C. Section 10704(a)(1). 

Rail Construction, Operation, and Acquisitions187 
Rail service that is part of an interstate rail network falls under the 

authorization of the STB—including extensions of existing lines, construction 
of additional lines, operation of a line, or acquisition (by a party other than an 
existing carrier which is discussed below) of a railroad line under 49 U.S.C. 
Section 10901.188 An application to authorize construction, acquisition (other 
than by an existing rail carrier), or operation of a rail line must be filed with the 
STB.189 The STB gives public notice of the proceedings regarding these 
applications. There is a legislative preference in favor of granting 
certification—the certificate shall be issued unless the Board finds it is 
inconsistent with public convenience and necessity.190 However, the STB can 
approve the application as is or with modifications or conditions it deems 
necessary in the public interest.191 Competing railroads cannot block 
construction of an STB-certified activity by refusing to allow the carrier to 
cross its property if the carrier (either during construction or operation) does 
 

186 E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. v. CSX Transportation, Inc., STB Docket No. 42101, p. 2 
(STB served June 30, 2008), citing, Burlington N.R.R. v. STB, 114 F.3d 206, 210 (D.C. Cir. 
1997).  
187 49 U.S.C. § 10901, 49 U.S.C. § 10902, and 49 U.S.C. §§ 11321-11328. See also, 49 C.F.R. 
parts 1150 and 1180. 
188 The acquisition by a different rail carrier of an active rail line owned by a rail carrier  is 
covered by 49 U.S.C. § 11323. There are instances where the STB’s authorization is not 
required. The STB’s authorization is not needed to repair existing track. In addition, there is an 
exception with regard to spur, industrial, team, switching, and side tracks. The STB does not 
have the authority over the construction, acquisition, operation, abandonment or 
discontinuance of these types of tracks. Furthermore, rail carriers can enter into agreements for 
joint ownership or use of said tracks without approval of the STB. 49 U.S.C. § 10906. A state’s 
acquisition of an abandoned rail lines is not subject to the jurisdiction of the STB. See 49 
C.F.R. § 1150.22. Other exemptions under 49 U.S.C. §§ 10901 and 10902 are found at 49 
C.F.R. pt. 1150, subparts D [§§ 1150.31-1150.36] and E [§§ 1150.41-1150.45]. 
189 49 U.S.C. § 10901 (b). Applications must include the information specified in 49 C.F.R. §§ 
1150.2-1150.9. 
190 49 U.S.C. § 10901 (c). 
191 49 U.S.C. § 10901 (c). 
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not unreasonably interfere with the operation of the crossed line and the owner 
of the crossed line is compensated for the crossing.192 If the amount of 
compensation is disputed by the parties, either may request the STB to make a 
determination of the appropriate compensation.193 

Proposed acquisitions of an extended or additional rail line by a Class II 
or III railroad are treated under 49 U.S.C. § 10902. The STB must approve 
such transactions unless it finds that the proposed activities would be 
“inconsistent with the public convenience and necessity.”194 However, the STB 
again has the power to approve the application as is or with modifications or 
conditions it deems necessary in the public interest.  

Railroad Consolidations with/by an Existing Railroad 
Consolidations, mergers, purchases, leases, contracts to operate, 

acquisitions (of one rail carrier by another, of two rail carriers by a person who 
is not a rail carrier, or of trackage rights or joint ownership by a rail carrier of a 
line owned by another carrier) are treated under Sections 11323 through 11328 
in the United States Code. The STB’s approval of such transactions must be 
obtained in advance based on an application process that includes notice, an 
opportunity for comment, and a public hearing unless the Board determines 
this process is not in the public interest.195 

For any merger of at least two Class I railroads, the statutes require the 
Board to consider:  

(1) the effect of the proposed transaction on the adequacy 
of transportation to the public; 
(2) the effect on the public interest of including, or failing 
to include,  other rail carriers in the area involved in the 
proposed transaction; 
(3) the total fixed charges that would result from the 
proposed transaction; 
(4) the interest of the rail carrier employees affected by 
the proposed transaction; and  
(5) whether the transaction would have an adverse effect 
on competition among rail carriers in the affected region 
or in the national rail system.196  

 

192 49 U.S.C. § 10901 (d)(1). 
193 49 U.S.C. § 10901 (d)(2). 
194 49 U.S.C. § 10902. 
195 49 U.S.C. § 11324 (a). 
196 49 U.S.C. § 11324 (b). 
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Under the statute, for any proposed transaction involving the merger or 
control of at least two Class I railroads, the STB must approve a line sale when 
it finds the transaction is in the public interest—although it can place 
conditions upon the approval.197 For transactions that do not involve the 
merger or consolidation of at least two Class I railroad, the statute stipulates: 

the Board shall approve such an application unless if finds 
that—(1) as a result of the transaction, there is likely to be 
a substantial lessening of competition, creation of a 
monopoly, or restraint of trade in freight surface 
transportation in any region of the United States; and (2) 
the anticompetitive effects of the transaction outweigh the 
public interest in meeting significant transportation 
needs.198   

The STB developed new rules effective as of 2001 to implement the 
statutory requirements for the consideration and approval of mergers. The rules 
that are applicable depend upon the type of transaction (major, significant, 
minor, or exempt).199 In June 2001, the STB issued an opinion regarding 
changes to major rail consolidation procedures.200 The STB reported: 

In March 2000, we concluded that our regulations 
governing applications for approval of railroad mergers, at 
49 CFR part 1189, subpart A (49 CFR 1180.0—1180.9), 
were outdated and inadequate to address future major rail 
merger proposals, given the limited merger-related 
benefits still obtainable through the elimination of 
overcapacity in the industry, the significant service 
disruptions that had been associated with recent rail 
mergers and the prospect that future major merger 
proposals would trigger other proposals that, if approved, 
could result in the consolidation of the Class I railroad 
industry into only two North American transcontinental 
railroads.201 

According to the STB, the new rules 
 

197 49 U.S.C. § 11324 (c). 
198 49 U.S.C. § 11324 (d) [emphasis added]. 
199 49 C.F.R. § 1180.2.  
200 Major Rail Consolidation Procedures, STB Ex. Parte No. 582 (Sub-No. 1) (STB served 
June 11, 2001). 
201 Major Rail Consolidation Procedures, STB Ex. Parte No. 582 (Sub-No. 1) (STB served 
June 11, 2001), p. 8; citing Major Rail Consolidation Procedures, STB Ex. Parte No. 582 
(Sub-No. 1) (STB served March 31, 2000), 65 FR 18021 (Apr. 6, 2000). 
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reflect a significant change in the way in which we will 
apply the statutory public interest test to any major rail 
merger application. Because of the small number of 
remaining Class I railroads, the fact that rail mergers are 
no longer needed to address significant excess capacity in 
the rail industry, and the transitional service problems that 
have accompanied recent rail mergers, we believe that 
future merger applicants should bear a heavier burden to 
show that a major rail combination is consistent with the 
public interest. Our shift in policy places greater emphasis 
in the public interest assessment on enhancing 
competition while ensuring a stable and balanced rail 
transportation system.202 

Under the STB’s policy statement regarding public interest considerations, the 
STB believes 

that mergers serve the public interest only when the 
substantial and demonstrable gains in important public 
benefits—such as improved service and safety, enhanced 
competition, and greater economic efficiency—outweigh 
any anticompetitive effects, potential service disruptions, 
or other merger-related harms.203  

The STB rules define four types of transactions: major, significant, 
minor and exempt. Combinations of two or more Class I railroads are “major” 
transactions.204 A significant transaction is one that would not qualify as a 
major transaction, although it has regional or national significance.205 If it can 
be determined that the transaction clearly will not have any anticompetitive 
effects or any anticompetitive effects will clearly be outweighed by the 
anticipated contribution to the public interest in meeting significant 
transportation needs, then the transaction is not classified as significant. If such 
a determination cannot be made, then it is classified as a significant 
 

202 Major Rail Consolidation Procedures, STB Ex. Parte No. 582 (Sub-No. 1) (STB served 
June 11, 2001), p. 9. 
203 49 C.F.R. § 1180.1 (c).  
204 49 C.F.R. § 1180.2 (a). Published notice and time limits for filings and proceedings for 
mergers of two or more Class I railroads are specified by statute under 49 U.S.C. §§ 11325 
(a)(1) and (b). The applicable statutory criteria that the STB considers regarding these 
transactions appears at  49 U.S.C. § 11324 (b). 
205 49 C.F.R. § 1180.2 (b). Transactions of regional and national transportation significance are 
subject to different statutory procedures under 49 U.S.C. § 11325 (a)(2) [requiring published 
notice for transactions of regional or national significance to be decided within a specific time 
limit] and § 11325 (c) [specifying the time limits for filings and proceedings related to 
transactions with regional or national significance]. The applicable statutory criteria that the 
STB considers regarding a significant transaction is 49 U.S.C. § 11324 (d). 
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transaction. “A minor transaction is one which involves more than one railroad 
and which is not a major, significant or exempt transaction.”206 Exempt 
transactions meet the requirements for exemption under 49 U.S.C. § 10502, 
discussed above, and are not subject to a merger review by the STB. Currently 
exempted transactions are listed in 49 C.F.R. § 1180.2 (d). Application 
requirements for the different types of transactions are specified under 49 
C.F.R § 1180.0 (a). 

The STB’s authority to review and approve mergers and combinations 
under 49 U.S.C. §§ 11322-11328 is exclusive. STB-approved consolidations 
are not subject to challenge under the “antitrust laws and from all other law, 
including State and municipal law, as necessary to let that rail carrier, 
corporation, or person carry out the transaction, hold, maintain, and operate 
property, and exercise control of franchises acquired through the 
transaction.”207 

Railroad Abandonment208 
A rail carrier must also file an application with the STB if it plans to 

abandon or discontinue operations over any part of its line.209 The application 
must include a summary of the basis for the abandonment or discontinuation, a 
statement that interested parties are entitled to make recommendations to the 
STB on the future of the rail line, and a statement with information relevant to 
the discontinued line’s availability for sale or subsidy. In addition, there is a 
variety of notice requirements that the rail carrier must provide.210 A rail 
carrier may abandon or discontinue operations on any part of its line only if the 
Board finds “that the present or future public convenience and necessity 

 

206 49 C.F.R. § 1180.2 (c). Published notice and time limits for filings and proceedings for 
minor transactions are specified by statute under 49 U.S.C. §§ 11325 (a)(3) and (d). 
207 49 U.S.C. § 11321. 
208 49 U.S.C. §§ 10903 and 10904, and 49 C.F.R. pt. 1152. The STB’s approval is not needed 
to abandon spur, industrial, team, switching, and side tracks. 49 U.S.C. § 10906. 
209 49 U.S.C. § 10903 (a)(1).  
210 See for example, 49 U.S.C. § 10903 (a)(3) and  49 C.F.R. § 1152.20. For example, each rail 
carrier must maintain a current system diagram map that indicates lines that are potentially 
subject to abandonment or lines that the carrier intends to abandon or discontinue. 49 U.S.C. § 
10903 (c). Under 49 C.F.R. § 1152.10, Class III railroads can forego a map and provide a 
narrative description. The carriers’ maps must distinguish lines by categories—those lines 
which the carrier anticipates will be subject to an application within a three-year period (in 
red), lines potentially subject of a future abandonment (in green), lines with a pending 
application (in yellow), lines being operating under a continuation provision of 49 U.S.C. 
10904 (in brown), and all other lines owned and operated by the carrier (in black). The system 
map has additional content requirements related to boundaries as by 49 C.F.R. § 1152.10. Also, 
an applicant must give notice of intent to file an abandonment or discontinuance application 
and must also notify the ten largest shippers on the line and any shipper with traffic over a 
specified threshold. 49 U.S.C. § 10903 (a)(3)(D); 49 C.F.R. §§ 1152.20 and 1152.2 (l). 
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CHAPTER 21  
DESCRIPTION OF RECENT RAILROAD 
INDUSTRY POLICY PROPOSALS 

INTRODUCTION 
This chapter describes recent policy proposals to change the 

railroad industry, many of which were discussed in the 2006 GAO report 
on the U.S. railroad industry.1 We describe the changes discussed in that 
report and proposed in recent bills before Congress—in particular S. 953 
and H.R. 2125, The Railroad Competition and Service Improvement Act 
of 2007. In addition to the proposals discussed in the GAO report, we also 
describe other recently proposed bills that reconsider the railroad 
industry’s antitrust exemptions (S. 772, H.R. 1650) as well as bills that 
propose investment tax credits for the railroad industry (S. 1125, H.R. 
2116). Chapter 22 presents an economic analysis of the various recent 
policy proposals. 

21A. DESCRIPTION OF POLICY CHANGES DISCUSSED IN THE 
GAO REPORT 

The potential reforms discussed in the 2006 GAO report include 
changes in policies regarding: bottleneck rates, reciprocal switching, 
terminal agreements, trackage rights, interchange commitments (paper 
barriers), and the STB’s procedures relating to the railroad industry. 
Except for the trackage rights issue, potential changes for all of these 
policy areas are contained in recent legislative proposals. Below, we 
discuss the GAO’s description of the contemplated reforms and the 

 

1 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006. In this chapter, we refer to this GAO report as “the 
2006 GAO report” or simply “the GAO report.”  
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legislation (specifically, The Railroad Competition and Service 
Improvement Act of 2007) proposed to implement these changes.2 

Bottleneck Rates 
The GAO report explains that bottlenecks arise where:  

Some shippers have more than one railroad that 
serves them at their origin and/or destination points, 
but have at least one portion of a rail movement for 
which no alternative rail route is available. This 
portion is referred to as the “bottleneck segment.”3  

Figure 21-1 duplicates the GAO’s illustration of a railroad bottleneck. In 
this figure, Railroad 1 serves the entire movement, A to C, which is 
composed of segments, A to B and B to C. Railroad 2 serves only segment 
B to C of the entire A to C movement. Thus, A to B is a bottleneck served 
by only Railroad 1. Under most circumstances, Railroad 1 will only quote 
a rate for the entire route, A to C, and will not, nor is it required to, quote a 
rate for the smaller segment, A to B, where it has exclusivity. A rate for 
the A to B “bottleneck” segment is known as a “bottleneck rate.” 

 

2 We focus on those sections of the proposed legislation that refer to the policy reforms 
discussed in the 2006 GAO report. However, there are other industry reforms proposed in 
the legislation that are not discussed here. For example, among its other provisions, S. 
953: 

• Requires the Board to designate any state or substantial part of a state as an area 
of inadequate rail competition after making certain findings. 

• Requires the Board to post rail service complaints on its website. 
• Specifies time limits for STB action on complaints seeking injunctive relief 

alleging unlawfulness of a new or revised rail rate, rule, or practice. 
• Establishes the Office of Rail Customer Advocacy. 
• Authorizes the Board to investigate rail carrier violations on its own initiative 

and requires the Board to initiate an investigation upon receiving a complaint 
alleging rail carrier violations. 

See S. 953, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 105, § 201(a), § 201(c), § 204, and § 401 (2007). 
3 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, pp. 48-49.  
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FIGURE 21-1 
GAO BOTTLENECK RATE ILLUSTRATION4 

 

The STB has ruled that rail carriers are not required to provide 
rates for the bottleneck segments pursuant to the rail carriers’ discretion to 
set rates and specify routes under Title 49 United States Code Sections 
10701(c) and 10705(a), respectively.5 According to the GAO report: 

STB’s rationale was that statute and case law precluded it from requiring a 
railroad to provide service on a portion of its route when the railroad 
serves both the origin and destination points and provides a rate for such 
movement. STB requires a railroad to provide service for the bottleneck 
segment only if the shipper had prior arrangements or a contract for the 
remaining portion of the shipment route.6 A Congressional Research 
Service report further elaborates on the STB’s rationale. 

Bottleneck rate practices were affirmed by the STB 
in December 1996 in its ruling on three coal rate 
cases brought by several utilities. The STB ruled that 

 

4 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 50, Figure 24. 
5 Central Power & Light Co. v. Southern Pacific Transportation Co., et al.,1 STB 1059 
(1996) (“Bottleneck I”), modified in part, 2 STB 235 (1997) (“Bottleneck II”), aff’d sub 
nom. MidAmerican Energy Co. v. STB, 169 F.3d 1099 (8th Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 528 
U.S. 950. 
6 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 49. 
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railroads did not have to “short-haul” themselves by 
offering rates on only a portion of a route if they 
could serve the entire route. The Board cited the 
section of statute that states that a rail carrier may 
establish “any rate for transportation or service.” The 
Board decided that a railroad only has to offer a rate 
on the one route the railroad deems most efficient for 
handling the cargo. A railroad does not have to offer 
rates for any alternative routes that the shipper 
requests. The STB did establish an exception to this 
ruling. If a shipper has already entered into a contract 
with the non-bottleneck carrier for the non-bottleneck 
portion of the route …, then the bottleneck railroad 
… must in fact segment the route and offer a separate 
rate for the bottleneck (short-haul) portion of the 
shipment. In practice, however, the non-bottleneck 
railroad generally has not entered into a contract with 
a shipper under these circumstances.7  

The proposed policy change would require a railroad carrier serving a 
bottleneck segment as part of a longer movement to offer a rate and 
service for the shorter, bottleneck segment. There are costs and benefits of 
establishing such a policy. As characterized by the GAO:  

On the one hand, requiring railroads to establish 
bottleneck rates would force short-distance routes on 
railroads when they served an entire route and could 
result in loss of business and potentially subject the 
bottleneck segment to a rate complaint. On the other 
hand, this approach would give shippers access to a 
second railroad, even if a single railroad was the only 
railroad that served the shipper at its origin and/or 
destination points, and could potentially reduce 
rates.8 

H.R. 2125 and S. 953 would require railroads to provide a rate between 
any two points on their networks, including any bottleneck segment of a 
 

7 John Frittelli, “Railroad Access and Competition Issues,” CRS Report for Congress, 
Order Code RL34117, updated January 10, 2008, p. 5, citing Central Power & Light Co. 
v. Southern Pacific Transportation Co., et al., 1 STB 1059 (1996) (“Bottleneck I”), 
modified in part, 2 STB 235 (1997) (“Bottleneck II”), aff’d sub nom. MidAmerican 
Energy Co. v. STB, 169 F.3d 1099 (8th Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 950; and 49 
U.S.C. § 10701 (c).  
8 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 49. 
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route.9 For example, S. 953 (The Railroad Competition and Service 
Improvement Act of 2007) would amend Section 11101(a) of Title 49, 
United States Code by adding the following paragraph: 

(2) Upon the request of a shipper, a rail carrier shall 
establish a rate for transportation and provide service 
requested by the shipper between any 2 points on the 
system of that carrier at which traffic originates, 
terminates, or may reasonably be interchanged. A 
carrier shall establish a rate and provide service upon 
such request without regard to— 

(A) the location of the movement on the rail 
system, including terminal areas; 
(B) whether the rate established is for part of a 
movement between a point of origin and a 
destination;  
(C) whether the shipper has made arrangements 
for transportation for any other part of that 
movement; or 
(D) whether the shipper has a contract with any 
rail carrier for part or all of its transportation 
needs over the route of movement. 10 

Reciprocal Switching 
The GAO report describes the reciprocal switching issue as 

requiring 

railroads serving shippers that are close to another 
railroad to transport cars of a competing railroad for a 
fee. The shippers would then have access to railroads 
that do not reach their facilities. This approach is 
similar to the mandatory interswitching in Canada, 
which enables a shipper to request a second railroad’s 
service if that second railroad is within approximately 
18 miles. Some Class I railroads already interchange 
traffic using these agreements, but they oppose being 
required to do so. Under this approach, STB would 
oversee the pricing of switching agreements.11 

 

9 John Frittelli, “Railroad Access and Competition Issues,” CRS Report for Congress, 
Order Code RL34117, updated January 10, 2008, p. 6. 
10 S. 953, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 102 (2007). 
11 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 44. 
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In Figure 21-2, Railroad 1’s tracks do not reach shipping destination X, 
which is located on Railroad 2’s tracks. With a reciprocal switching 
arrangement, Railroad 2 would transport Railroad 1’s cars to shipping 
destination X for a fee. The potential benefit of reciprocal switching is that 
it “could also reduce the number of captive shippers by providing a 
competitive option to shippers with access to a proximate but previously 
inaccessible railroad and thereby reduce traffic eligible for the rate relief 
process.”12 

FIGURE 21-2 
GAO RECIPROCAL SWITCHING ILLUSTRATION13 

 

Section 104 of S. 953 amends Section 11102(c) of Title 49, United 
States Code to read: 

(c) (1) The Board shall require rail carriers to enter 
into reciprocal switching agreements, if the Board 
determines such agreements to be practicable and in 
the public interest, or if such agreements are 
necessary to provide competitive rail service. The rail 
carriers entering into such an agreement shall 
establish the conditions and compensation applicable 

 

12 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 44. 
13 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 45, Figure 21. 
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to such agreement. If the rail carriers cannot agree 
upon such conditions and compensation within a 
reasonable period of time, the Board shall establish 
such conditions and compensation.  
(2) The Board may require reciprocal switching 
agreements entered into by rail carriers pursuant to 
this subsection to contain provisions for the 
protection of the interests of employees affected 
thereby. 
(3) In making any finding under paragraph (1), the 
Board may not require evidence of anticompetitive 
conduct by a rail carrier from which access is 
sought.14 

Terminal Agreements 
The GAO report describes terminal agreements as requiring “one 

railroad to grant access to its terminal facilities or tracks to another 
railroad, enabling both railroads to interchange traffic or gain access to 
traffic coming from shippers off the other railroad’s lines for a fee.”15 In 
Figure 21-3, Railroad 1’s tracks do not reach a terminal area served by 
Railroad 2’s tracks. A terminal agreement would allow Railroad 1 access 
to Railroad 2’s tracks to serve its terminal area and facilities. Under the 
current statute, railroads aren’t required to allow another railroad access to 
its terminals and tracks. The GAO report describes today’s policy relating 
to terminal agreements in contrast to a changed approach. 

Current regulation requires a shipper to demonstrate 
anticompetitive conduct by a railroad before STB 
will grant access to a terminal by a nonowning 
railroad unless there is an emergency or when a 
shipper can demonstrate poor service and a second 
railroad is willing and able to provide the service 
requested. This approach would require revisiting the 
current requirement that railroads or shippers 
demonstrate anticompetitive conduct in making a 
case to gain access to a railroad terminal in areas 
where there is inadequate competition.16 

 

14 S. 953, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 104 (2007). 
15 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 45. 
16 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, pp. 45-46. 
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FIGURE 21-3 
GAO TERMINAL AGREEMENTS ILLUSTRATION17 

 

The potential benefits of terminal agreement policy changes are 
that they “would…make it easier for competing railroads to gain access to 
the terminal areas of other railroads and could increase competition 
between railroads… [and] shippers could benefit from increased 
competition…”18 The potential cost, however, is that terminal agreement 
policy changes “could also reduce revenues to all railroads involved and 
adversely affect the financial condition of the rail industry…[and] 
shippers…might see service decline.”19 

Under the current proposed bills, S. 953 and H.R. 2125, Sections 
11102(a) and (b) of Title 49, United States Code would remain 
unchanged. These sections would continue to read as follows: 

(a) The Board may require terminal facilities, 
including main-line tracks for a reasonable distance 
outside of a terminal, owned by a rail carrier 

 

17 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 47, Figure 22. 
18 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006 p. 46. 
19 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 46. 
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providing transportation subject to the jurisdiction of 
the Board under this part, to be used by another rail 
carrier if the Board finds that use to be practicable 
and in the public interest without substantially 
impairing the ability of the rail carrier owning the 
facilities or entitled to use the facilities to handle its 
own business. The rail carriers are responsible for 
establishing the conditions and compensation for use 
of the facilities. However, if the rail carriers cannot 
agree, the Board may establish conditions and 
compensation for use of the facilities under the 
principle controlling compensation in condemnation 
proceedings. The compensation shall be paid or 
adequately secured before a rail carrier may begin to 
use the facilities of another rail carrier under this 
section.  
(b) A rail carrier whose terminal facilities are 
required to be used by another rail carrier under this 
section is entitled to recover damages from the other 
rail carrier for injuries sustained as the result of 
compliance with the requirement or for compensation 
for the use, or both as appropriate, in a civil action, if 
it is not satisfied with the conditions for use of the 
facilities or if the amount of the compensation is not 
paid promptly.20  

Trackage Rights 
The GAO report describes trackage rights as requiring 

one railroad to grant access to its tracks to another 
railroad, enabling railroads to interchange traffic 
beyond terminal facilities for a fee. In the past, STB 
has imposed conditions requiring that a merging 
railroad must grant another railroad trackage rights to 
preserve competition when a merger would reduce a 
shipper’s access to railroads from two to one.21 

A potential policy change regarding trackage rights would allow one 
carrier to use the tracks of another for a fee. The potential benefits of 
requiring railroads to grant trackage rights are that it may increase rail 

 

20 49 U.S.C. §§ 11102 (a) and (b). 
21 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 47. 
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competition and decrease rates, however the potential costs are that “it 
could also discourage owning railroads from maintaining the track or 
providing high-quality service, since the value of lost use of track may not 
be compensated by the user fee and may decrease return on investment.”22 

In Figure 21-4, potential trackage rights would allow Railroad 1 to 
serve specified points on Railroad 2’s network. None of the recently 
proposed legislation provides for a change to the STB’s current policy on 
trackage rights. 

FIGURE 21-4 
GAO TRACKAGE RIGHTS ILLUSTRATION23 

 

Interchange Commitments 
The GAO report discusses potential changes to interchange 

commitments (commonly termed “paper barriers”) as follows: 

This approach would prevent or, put a time limit on, 
paper barriers, which are contractual agreements that 
can occur when a Class I railroad either sells or 

 

22 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, pp. 47-48. 
23 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 48, Figure 23. 
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leases long term some of its track to other railroads 
(typically a short-line railroad and/or regional 
railroad). These agreements stipulate that virtually all 
traffic that originates on that line must interchange 
with the Class I railroad that originally leased the 
tracks or pay a penalty. Since the 1980s, 
approximately 500 short lines have been created by 
Class I railroads selling a portion of their lines; 
however, the extent to which paper barriers are a 
standard practice is unknown because they are part of 
confidential contracts. When this type of agreement 
exists, it can inhibit smaller railroads that connect 
with or cross two or more Class I rail systems from 
providing rail customers access to competitive 
service. Eliminating paper barriers could affect the 
railroad industry’s overall capacity since Class I 
railroads may abandon lines instead of selling them 
to smaller railroads and thereby increase the cost of 
entering a market for a would-be competitor. In 
addition, an official from a railroad association told 
us that it is unclear if a federal agency could 
invalidate privately negotiated contracts.24 In Figure 
21-5 Railroad 1 (a Class II or III railroad) and 
Railroad 2 (a Class I railroad) have a contractual 
agreement, or an interchange commitment, which 
prevents Railroad 1 from interchanging traffic with 
other railroads, such as Railroad 3.  

 

24 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, pp. 50-51. Also see John Frittelli, “Railroad 
Access and Competition Issues,” CRS Report for Congress, Order Code RL34117, 
updated January 10, 2008, pp. 7-8: 

Typically, when a Class I railroad sells or leases a track segment to a short-line 
railroad, the Class I railroad offers a much lower price (maybe lower rent or no 
rent) if the short-line agrees to interchange all of the existing traffic on the line 
with the selling railroad. These selling arrangements are referred to as “paper 
barriers.”  Under these arrangements, the main line railroad can ensure that it 
will maintain the traffic (and the freight revenues) that the feeder line generated 
on its main line network. It is also purportedly the case that potential short-line 
operators simply do not have the finances necessary to buy the line outright at 
fair market value, so the selling railroad uses an interchange commitment to 
recover the line’s fair market value. New traffic that the short-line is able to 
generate after the sale, either by finding new customers or additional cargo from 
existing customers that previously moved by non-rail modes, may not be subject 
to this interline restriction. 
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FIGURE 21-5 
GAO INTERCHANGE COMMITMENT ILLUSTRATION25 

 

There is some disagreement between shippers and railroads 
(particularly Class II and III railroads) regarding the elimination of 
interchange commitments: 

Captive shippers support eliminating paper barriers 
because they view it as a means for increasing rail-to-
rail competition. They further argue that in an era of 
tight rail capacity, where certain segments are prone 
to delays, it is simply bad public policy to not allow 
shippers to utilize all potential routing options. 
 
Short-line railroads contend that banning paper 
barriers would negatively affect their potential 
customers because it would discourage Class I 
railroads from selling the lines in question for fear of 
losing freight revenue to a competing main line 
railroad. Because Class I railroads typically view the 
line in question as less profitable, they are reluctant 
to reinvest in the line, leaving those customers 
located on the line with inferior rail service. Short-
lines argue that these rail customers could receive 
much better service if the line was under their 
management. Most agree that short-line railroads 

 

25 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 51, Figure 25. 
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have a good track record for improving service 
because their customers are central to the viability of 
their enterprise, rather than being marginal 
contributors.26 

The Railroad Competition and Service Improvement Act of 2007 
contains provisions relating to interchange commitments. According to the 
Congressional Research Service’s summary, S. 953: 

would disallow interchange commitments between a 
Class I railroad and a Class II or III railroad as part of 
a rail line sale and it would disallow charging higher 
per car interchange rates for Class II or III railroads 
to interchange traffic with a railroad other than the 
selling railroad.27 

Specifically, Section 103 of S. 953 amends Section 10901 of Title 49, 
United States Code to add the following:  

(e)(1) The Board may not issue a certificate authorizing an activity 
described in subsection (a), section 10902, or section 11323, or 
exempt a person, a class of persons, a transaction, or a service from 
the applicability of this section with respect to such an activity 
under section 10502, if the activity involves a transfer of interest in 
a line of railroad, from a Class I rail carrier to a Class II or Class 
III rail carrier, and the activity would directly or indirectly— 
(A) restrict or limit the ability of the Class II or Class III rail carrier 
to interchange traffic with other rail carriers; 
(B) restrict or limit competition of rail carriers in the region 
affected by the activity in a manner that would violate antitrust 
laws of the United States (notwithstanding any exemption from the 
applicability of antitrust laws that is provided under section 10706 
or any other provision of law); or  
(C) require higher per car interchange rates for Class II or Class III 
rail carriers to interchange traffic with other rail carriers. 
(2) Any party to an activity described in paragraph (1) that has 
been carried out, or any rail shipper affected by such an activity, 
may request that the Board review the activity to determine 
whether the activity has resulted in a restriction described in that 
paragraph. If the Board determines, upon review of the activity, 
that the activity resulted in such a restriction, the Board shall 

 

26 John Frittelli, “Railroad Access and Competition Issues,” CRS Report for Congress, 
Order Code RL34117, updated January 10, 2008, p. 8. 
27 John Frittelli, “Railroad Access and Competition Issues,” CRS Report for Congress, 
Order Code RL34117, updated January 10, 2008, p. 8.  
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declare the restriction to be unlawful and terminate the restriction 
unless the Board determines that the termination of the restriction 
would materially impair the ability of an affected rail carrier to 
provide service to the public or would otherwise be inconsistent 
with the public interest. 
(3) In this subsection, the term ‘antitrust laws’ has the meaning 
given that term in subsection (a) of the first section of the Clayton 
Act (15 U.S.C. 12(a)), except that such term also means section 5 
of the Federal Trade Commission Act (15 U.S.C. 45) to the extent 
that section 5 applies to unfair methods of competition.28 

In October 2007, the STB issued a decision regarding interchange 
commitments, concluding that interchange commitments should be judged 
on a case-by case basis.29 Under that decision, the STB provided a number 
of factors to be considered in determining the propriety of interchange 
commitments and indicated that the most restrictive interchange 
commitments (total bans on interchange and limitations in perpetuity) 
would face a higher level of scrutiny.30 The STB also proposed a number 
of reporting requirements.  

To facilitate a more informed case-by-case analysis 
of interchange commitments, we proposed 
regulations that would (a) require carriers, when 
seeking Board authorization for sale or lease 
transactions, to identify any interchange commitment 
provisions, and (b) provide a procedure whereby 
shippers or other affected parties may obtain access 
to such provisions, when participating in 
authorization proceedings or challenging the 
continued application of existing interchange 
commitments.31 

In May 2008, the STB issued another opinion covering interchange 
commitments, adding to its previous October 2007 decision. The new 
opinion requires 

 

28 S. 953, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 103 (2007). 
29 Disclosure of Rail Interchange Commitments, STB Ex Parte No. 575 (Sub-No. 1) (STB 
served October 30, 2007), p. 1. 
30 Disclosure of Rail Interchange Commitments, STB Ex Parte No. 575 (Sub-No. 1) (STB 
served October 30, 2007), pp. 14-15. 
31 Disclosure of Rail Interchange Commitments, STB Ex Parte No. 575 (Sub-No. 1) (STB 
served May 21, 2008), p. 2. 



Volume 3 21-15 

parties seeking to obtain an individual exemption for, 
or to invoke a class exemption covering, a transaction 
involving the sale or lease of a railroad line identify 
any provision in their agreements that would restrict 
the ability of the purchaser or tenant railroad to 
interchange traffic with a rail carrier other than the 
seller or landlord railroad. [The] new rules also 
provide a procedure whereby a shipper or other 
affected party may obtain access to such provisions.32 

STB Reforms 
The GAO discusses three STB reforms—increased use of 

simplified guidelines, increased use of arbitration, and development of 
alternative cost methodology—that have been proposed to improve the 
STB rate relief process. In this section, we discuss the increased use of 
arbitration by the STB and the development of an alternative cost method 
for use in STB rate relief proceedings, both of which have been proposed 
in recent legislation. 

Arbitration. With respect to the increased use of arbitration to 
resolve disputes between shippers and railroads, the GAO report states: 

Proponents of arbitration argue that the threat of 
arbitration can induce railroads and shippers to 
resolve their own problems and limit the need for 
federal regulation. In addition, the process is quicker 
and cheaper than the standard rate relief process. For 
example, Canada offers an arbitration process known 
as Final Offer Arbitration (FOA), under which both 
parties submit their best and final offers, and the 
arbitrator considers the argument from both sides and 
picks one rate offer from either the railroad or the 
shipper. FOA is quicker—statutorily, once the 
process begins it has to be completed within 60 days, 
or 30 days for disputes involving freight charges less 
than $750,000, unless the parties agree to a different 
time frame. In addition, FOA is cheaper—estimates 
ranged up to $1 million Canadian dollars, for both 
parties. On the other hand, the decisions are good for 
only 1 year, so the process could in theory be 
revisited annually. Critics of this approach suggest 
that arbitration decisions may not be based on 

 

32 Disclosure of Rail Interchange Commitments, STB Ex Parte No. 575 (Sub-No. 1) (STB 
served May 21, 2008), p. 1. 
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economic principles, such as the revenue and cost 
structure of the railroad, and arbitrators may not be 
knowledgeable about the railroad industry. 
Furthermore, opinions differ significantly about 
which types of disputes should be covered and what 
standards (if any) should apply.33 

Provisions for the arbitration of certain rail rate, service and other disputes 
involving any agricultural commodity is found in the Railroad 
Competition and Service Improvement Act of 2007. Specifically, Section 
304 of S. 953 would amend Chapter 117 of Title 49, United States Code 
by inserting the following: 

§ 11708. Arbitration of certain rail rate, service, and other disputes 

(a) ELECTION OF ARBITRATION.—A dispute described in 
 subsection (b) shall be submitted for resolution by arbitration 
 upon the election of any party to the dispute. 
(b) COVERED DISPUTES.—(1) Except as provided in paragraph 
 (2), subsection (a) shall apply to any dispute between a party 
 and a rail carrier that— 

(A) arises under section 10701(c), 10701(d), 10702,   
 10704(a)(1), 10707, 10741, 10745, 10746, 11101(a),  
 11102, 11121, 11122, or 11706; 
(B) involves the transportation of any agricultural 
 product, including timber, paper, and fertilizer; and 
(C) involves— 

(i) the payment of money; 
(ii) a rate or charge imposed by the rail carrier; or 
(iii) transportation or other service by the rail 
 carrier. 

(2) Subsection (a) shall not apply to a dispute if the resolution of 
the dispute would necessarily involve the promulgation of 
regulations generally applicable to all rail carriers. 

(c) ARBITRATION PROCEDURES.—Not later than 1 year after the 
effective date of this section, the Board shall promulgate 
regulations governing voluntary arbitration that are consistent 
with the provisions of this section. Such modifications shall 
include the following: 

(1) Arbitration shall be mandatory if either party elects 
arbitration in lieu of filing a formal or informal 
complaint before the Board. Challenges to the 
reasonableness of rail rates or charges may not be 

 

33 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, pp. 52-53. 
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subjected to arbitration at the sole election of a rail 
carrier imposing such rates or charges. 

(2) Arbitration shall be before an administrative law judge 
of the Board, or arranged for by the Board, unless the 
parties to the arbitration each select an arbitrator and 
the 2 selected arbitrators agree on a third arbitrator from 
a list of neutral arbitrators maintained by the Board. 

(3) Disputes concerning rates and charges shall not be 
considered or decided using any method based on 
stand-alone cost, the costs of a hypothetical competitor, 
or in reliance on precedent adopting or applying such 
methods. 

(4) Standards for rate reasonableness developed under 
section 10701(d)(3) shall apply in arbitration under this 
section. The arbitrator or arbitrators shall adopt the final 
offer of 1 of the parties, without amendment or 
compromise, if such position is consistent with this 
section. 

(5) A rate may not be prescribed in an arbitration if such 
rate would result in a revenue-variable cost percentage 
below 180 percent or if market dominance is not found. 
A rate prescription may not remain in effect for longer 
than 5 years after the date on which the arbitrator’s 
decision becomes final. 

(6) If a party to arbitration under this section seeks damages 
from a rail carrier that do not exceed $500,000 per year 
based on a claim of excessive rates or charges, the 
arbitrator shall consider evidence of rates or charges on 
comparable shipments. 

(7) Decisions issued in arbitration under this section shall 
not be subject to appeal to the Board unless all parties 
to the arbitration agree to such appeal. Appeals to a 
court, or to the Board if both parties agree to Board 
review, shall be based on a clear error standard, and 
consistency with the requirements of this section.34 

Alternative Cost Methodology to SAC. With respect to the 
development of alternatives to the STB’s stand-alone cost methodology, 
the 2006 GAO report states: 

STB could develop an alternative to the cost 
methodology used under the standard process in 
which a shipper must demonstrate how much an 

 

34 S. 953, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 304 (2007). 
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optimally efficient railroad would need to charge a 
shipper by constructing a hypothetical, perfectly 
efficient railroad that would replace its current 
carrier. For example, STB could use a long-run 
incremental cost approach to evaluate and decide rate 
cases. This process, which is used by the Federal 
Energy Regulatory Commission for regulating rates 
charged by pipeline companies, bases rates on the 
actual incremental cost of moving a particular 
shipment, plus a reasonable rate of return. This 
approach allows for a quick, standard method for 
setting prices, but does not take into account the need 
for differential pricing or the railroad’s need to 
charge higher rates in order to become revenue 
adequate. Structuring rate regulation around actual 
costs can also create potential disincentives for the 
regulated entity to control its costs.35 

The use of simplified guidelines was discussed at length in Chapter 
20. Since (or contemporaneous with) the release of the 2006 GAO report, 
the STB has implemented modifications to its CMP methodology 
(October 2006) and the three-benchmark methodology for use in small 
rate cases (September 2007), and has adopted a simplified SAC 
methodology for use in medium-sized rate cases (September 2007). As 
previously discussed in Chapter 20 and its appendix, there has been a 
successful challenge to a rate’s reasonableness under the new three-
benchmark methodology, which is currently on appeal.36 

The Railroad Competition and Service Improvement Act of 2007 
contains provisions for an alternative cost methodology to be used by the 
STB for determining reasonable rates. These provisions would require the 
STB to change its reasonableness of rate standard. Specifically, Section 
302 of S. 953 would amend Section 10701(d) of Title 49, United States 
Code by adding the following: 

(4)(A) Not later than 1 year after the date of the enactment of this 
paragraph, the Board shall adopt a method for determining 
the reasonableness of rail rates based on the railroad’s 

 

35 Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, “Freight 
Railroads Industry Health Has Improved, but Concerns about Competition and Capacity 
Should Be Addressed,” October 2006, p. 53. 
36 E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. v. CSX Transportation, Inc., STB Docket No. 42099 
(STB served June 30, 2008); E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. v. CSX Transportation, Inc., 
STB Docket No. 42100 (STB served June 30, 2008); E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. v. 
CSX Transportation, Inc., STB Docket No. 42101 (STB served June 30, 2008). 
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actual costs, including a portion of fixed costs and an 
adequate return on debt and equity. The method adopted— 
(i) shall permit a final determination not later than 9 

months after a complaint is filed; 
(ii) shall ensure that necessary cost and operational 

information is available to the complainant; 
(iii) shall not require excessive litigation costs; and 
(iv)  shall require, upon a showing by the shipper of market 

dominance (as defined in section 10707), that the rail 
carrier prove that the challenged rate is reasonable. 

(B) The Board may not use any method for determining the 
reasonableness of rail rates based on the costs of a 
hypothetical competitor, except that, in any rate 
reasonableness proceeding filed before the method required 
under subparagraph (A) is adopted, the complaint, upon the 
election of the complainant, shall be decided based on 
applicable rate standards in effect on the date of the filing, 
including small shipper rate guidelines. 

(C) The Board shall adopt a method under this paragraph that 
applies the ‘phasing constraint’ in its existing rail rate 
method so that it can be practically administered without 
substantial litigation-related costs in any proceeding 
involving a challenge to a rail rate in which the Board 
determines that the phasing constraint applies. 

 
(5) Upon receiving notification of a challenge made by a shipper to 

the reasonableness of any rate established by a rail carrier, the 
Board shall determine the reasonableness of the rate without 
regard to— 
(A) whether the rate is for part of a movement between a point 

of origin and a destination; 
(B) whether the shipper has made arrangements for 

transportation for any other part of that movement; or 
(C) any other contract the shipper has with a rail carrier for  
 any part of the rail traffic involved.37 

The legislation would also change the determination of market dominance 
to a strictly quantitative test: any rate with a revenue-variable cost ratio 
180 percent or greater would indicate market dominance. There would no 
longer be a qualitative analysis of the state of competition for the subject 
traffic as discussed in Chapter 20. Section 302 of S. 953 would amend 
Section 10707(a) of Title 49, United States Code to read: 

 

37 S. 953, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 302 (2007). 
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(a) In this section, ‘market dominance’ exists if a complainant 
shipper demonstrates that the challenged rate results in a revenue-
variable cost percentage for the transportation to which the rate 
applies that is not less than 180 percent.38 

21B. ANTITRUST REFORM 

Current Antitrust Immunity for Railroads 
Generally, antitrust immunity for railroads can be broken down 

into two categories:  transactional and rate.39 Transactional immunity 
refers to transactions that have passed STB scrutiny. Transactions—such 
as rail carrier mergers for example—that have received STB approval are 
not subject to additional antitrust scrutiny: 

Transactional immunity (immunity for mergers, 
acquisitions, and related agreements) arose during the 
1920s due to increasing concern over the financial 
health of the railroads and government experience at 
managing the railroads during World War I. Such 
experiences led Congress to believe that in order to 
enhance the financial returns of investors and to 
promote better service, it was necessary to promote 
consolidation within the industry with the help of the 
Interstate Commerce Commission (ICC), the 
predecessor to the Surface Transportation Board 
(STB). The ICC adopted a plan that balanced 
competition against other concerns that were 
sometimes inconsistent with competition policy. 

Congress required that the ICC approve any 
agreement between railroads, including mergers and 
acquisitions…. ICC approval of these transactions 
immunized the transactions from antitrust scrutiny. 40  

 

38 S. 953, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 302 (2007). 
39 Darren Bush, Associate Professor of Law, University of Houston Law Center, “The 
Intersection of Competition Policy and Surface Transportation Regulatory Policy: An 
Examination of S. 772, The Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, p. 4.  
40 Darren Bush, Associate Professor of Law, University of Houston Law Center, “The 
Intersection of Competition Policy and Surface Transportation Regulatory Policy: An 
Examination of S. 772, The Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, pp. 4-5. 
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Specifically, transactional immunities are codified in the various current 
statutes. 49 U.S.C. § 11321 gives express immunity for STB-approved 
transactions within its exclusive authority under 49 U.S.C. §§ 11323-
11325 relating to consolidations or mergers; acquisitions or control; 
purchases, leases, or contracts to operate property of another carrier; and 
acquisitions of trackage rights; and under 49 U.S.C. § 11322 relating to 
pooling arrangements and agreements to divide traffic. 15 U.S.C. § 18 
(Section 7 of the Clayton Act) gives STB-approved transactions relating to 
corporate acquisitions immunity from this section’s prohibiting one 
party’s acquisition of another’s stock or assets if the effect of such 
acquisition would be to lessen competition or create a monopoly. 

According to the STB, transactional immunity is 

part of a broader set of preemptions in the statute 
designed to protect the national, public interest in 
ensuring the free flow of interstate commerce by 
preventing parties that do not want to see an 
increased rail presence in their communities from 
blocking or delaying those transactions with 
hundreds of individual suits in every local 
jurisdiction affected by the transaction.41 

Rail carrier rate immunity refers to the inability of a shipper to 
challenge a rate in court.  

In 1995 Congress repealed the provisions that give 
the ICC authority to review and remedy predatory 
rates…[and] deregulated traffic moving between 
shippers and rail carriers under private contract. The 
ICC and STB have also moved to exempt many rates 
or other activities from regulation under the Staggers 
Rail Act of 1980. The effect of an order from the 
STB stating that certain conduct is no longer subject 
to regulation is to open that conduct to antitrust 
attack. However, because the STB has the option of 
reregulating the conduct, courts have appeared 

 

41 Charles D. Nottingham, Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board, “An 
Examination of S. 772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, p. 5. 
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reluctant to allow plaintiffs to challenge exempted 
conduct.42 

Current rate immunities are codified at 49 U.S.C. Section 10706. 
This statute gives specific immunity to STB-approved rate-related 
agreements “(including charges between rail carriers and compensation 
paid or received for the use of facilities and equipment), classifications, 
divisions, or rules related to them, or procedures for joint consideration, 
initiation, publication, or establishment of them...”43 As discussed above 
in Chapter 20 and its appendix, the STB has noted that there are only a 
very few Section 10706 agreements currently in place.  

 

Other statutory immunities applicable to rail carriers include:  

• 15 U.S.C. § 26, giving railroads immunity from injunctive 
relief in private civil litigation.  

• 15 U.S.C. § 45 from The Federal Trade Commission Act, 
giving immunity to railroads from FTC enforcement of 
prohibitions on using unfair methods of competition and unfair 
or deceptive acts affecting commerce.  

In addition, there is a judicially created (as compared to statutory) 
immunity from treble damages on antitrust rate cases. “Created by the 
courts in 1922, the doctrine is premised on the idea that tariffs filed with 
the ICC should be immune from challenge, except before the agency.”44 

Suggested Effects of Antitrust Immunity 
Antitrust immunity for railroads has come under scrutiny recently. 

This stems from what some critics believe are the consequences of that 
immunity, including: 

• Railroad consolidations. One claimed effect of the exemption is 
consolidation in railroad providers. Whereas in 1979 there were 42 

42 Darren Bush, Associate Professor of Law, University of Houston Law Center, “The 
Intersection of Competition Policy and Surface Transportation Regulatory Policy: An 
Examination of S. 772, The Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, p. 7. 
43 49 U.S.C. § 10706 (a)(2)(A). 
44 Charles D. Nottingham, Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board, “An 
Examination of S. 772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, p. 6. 



Volume 3 21-23 

Class I Railroads, today there are four that provide over 90 percent 
of the nation’s freight rail transportation.45 

• Captive Shippers/Refusal to Provide Rates on Bottleneck 
Segments. Captive shippers—shippers who do not have any choice 
in rail carriers—are a claimed result of railroad consolidations 
noted above.46 In addition, as previously reported, rail carriers 
have refused (with STB affirmation) to provide their captive 
customers with “rates to points where the rail customer can gain 
access to a competing ra 47ilroad.”  

 

• “Paper barriers” or “tie-in agreements.” As discussed above, 
paper barriers or tie-in agreements refer to certain clauses included 
in sales agreements or leases between Class I and smaller railroads 
whereby the smaller rail carrier is restricted from transacting 
business for the line with other major rail carriers. The leases allow 
the smaller railroads to operate tracks owned by the larger Class I 
rail carrier. “The ICC, and later the STB, was given authority to 
approve such transfers of operating rights in 49 U.S.C. Section 
10902.”48 Sometimes these agreements limiting the smaller 
railroads from transacting business with other, larger rail carriers 
had time limits, while others were permanent. “The ICC 
historically approved such restraints, finding that they had no 
anticompetitive effect.”49 

45 The Honorable Herb Kohl, Unites States Senator, Wisconsin, “An Examination of S. 
772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” Statement before the Subcomm. on 
Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 
2007, p. 1. 
46 The Honorable Herb Kohl, Unites States Senator, Wisconsin, “An Examination of S. 
772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” Statement before the Subcomm. on 
Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 
2007, p. 2. 
47 Robert Szabo, Executive Director and Counsel, CURE, “An Examination of S. 772, the 
Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the Subcomm. on Antitrust, 
Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 2007, p.5.  
48 Robert Szabo, Executive Director and Counsel, CURE, “An Examination of S. 772, the 
Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the Subcomm. on Antitrust, 
Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 2007, p. 4. 
49 Darren Bush, Associate Professor of Law, University of Houston Law Center, “The 
Intersection of Competition Policy and Surface Transportation Regulatory Policy: An 
Examination of S. 772, The Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, p. 6. 
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The Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act (S. 772, H.R. 1650) 
Currently there is legislation in both the Senate and the House to 

repeal the antitrust exemptions for the railroad industry. The Senate Bill 
772 and the House Bill 1650 were substantially similar as introduced, but 
both bills were changed in committee. For the purposes of this analysis, 
the current version of S. 772 is discussed here.  

Section 2 of S. 772 would amend the proviso of Section 16 of the 
Clayton Act, codified at 15 U.S.C. § 26, ending rail carrier immunity from 
injunctive relief in private civil litigation. Section 3 of S. 772 would 
amend Section 7 of the Clayton Act, codified at 15 U.S.C. § 18, making 
railroad agreements, mergers, and acquisitions approved by the STB 
pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 11321 subject to antitrust scrutiny under Section 7 
prohibiting any such transaction if “the effect of such acquisition may be 
substantially to lessen competition, or to tend to create a monopoly.”50 
Under the proposed Section 4 of S. 772, district courts would not be 
required to defer to the STB’s primary jurisdiction in civil antitrust 
violation litigations of Sections 4 (Suits by persons injured codified at 15 
U.S.C. § 15), 4C (Actions by State attorneys general codified at 15 U.S.C. 
§ 15c), 15 (Restraining violations codified at 15 U.S.C. § 25), or 16 
(Injunctive relief for private parties codified at 15 U.S.C. § 26) of the 
Clayton Act. The proposed Section 5 of S. 772 would amend the portion 
of Section 11(a) of the Clayton Act, codified at 15 U.S.C. § 21, that vests 
the enforcement of various provisions of the act with regard to common 
carriers under subtitle IV of Title 49 with the STB. Enforcement of the 
prohibitions contained in 15 U.S.C. §§ 13 (Discrimination in price, 
services, or facilities), 14 (Sale, etc., on agreement not to use goods of 
competitor), 18 (Acquisition by one corporation of stock of another), and 
19 (Interlocking directorates and officers) for rail rate agreements under 
49 U.S.C. § 10706 and for rail combinations under 49 U.S.C. § 11321 
would no longer be vested in the STB. In addition, under Section 5 of S. 
772, the Federal Trade Commission would be responsible for preventing 
railroads from “using unfair methods of competition in or affecting 
commerce and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting 
commerce.”51 Under the proposed Section 6 of S. 772, 15 U.S.C. § 15 
would be amended to add a paragraph specifying that railroads would be 
subject to treble damages for civil antitrust violation suits.52 Under the 
proposed Section 7 of S. 772, the antitrust exemption for STB-sanctioned 
 

50 15 U.S.C. § 18 and S. 772, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 3 (2007). Under the original bill, 
S. 772 would also have made rate agreements between rail carriers under 49 U.S.C. § 
10706 subject to antitrust scrutiny. This portion has been struck out by the current version 
reported by the Senate.  
51 15 U.S.C. § 45 (a)(2) and S. 772, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 5(b) (2007). 
52 15 U.S.C. § 15 (a) and S. 772, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 6 (2007). This proposed 
change is not included in the House version of the bill. 
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agreements under 49 U.S.C. § 10706 (i.e., rate agreements) between two 
or more railroads would no longer exist. In conducting an antitrust 
analysis under § 10706, the legislation would require the Board to “take 
into account, among any other considerations, the impact of the proposed 
agreement on shippers, on consumers, and on affected communities.”53 In 
addition, proposed Section 7 would limit the STB’s exclusive authority for 
approval of combinations (specifically excluding Clayton Act antitrust 
scrutiny from the STB’s exclusive authority) and removes any antitrust 
exemption (under the Sherman Act, Clayton Act, FTC Act, or Wilson 
Tariff Act) from any merger/acquisition transaction. Again, the legislation 
would require the Board to “take into account, among any other 
considerations, the impact of the transaction on shippers and on affected 
communities.”54 It is notable that with regard to combinations under § 
11321, the STB antitrust analysis is not required to take into account the 
effect of the transaction on consumers, in contrast with the antitrust impact 
analysis for rate agreements under § 10706 where the STB must consider 
consumers in addition to shippers and affected communities. 

Committee Hearings 
During the October 3, 2007, hearings on S. 772 before the Senate 

Judiciary Committee, various interested parties offered the follow 
arguments for and against the elimination of the antitrust exemptions. 

Arguments in favor of eliminating antitrust exemptions: 

• There is no good reason for the exemption.55 

• Other regulated industries—despite being regulated—are still 
subject to antitrust law.56 

• Railroad has been substantially deregulated—particularly rate 
setting—and therefore antitrust enforcement is a necessary check 
on railroads.57 

 

53 S. 772, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 7 (a) (2007). 
54 S. 772, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 7 (b) (2007).  
55 The Honorable Herb Kohl, Unites States Senator, Wisconsin, “An Examination of S. 
772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” Statement before the Subcomm. on 
Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 
2007, p. 1.  
56 Robert Szabo, Executive Director and Counsel, CURE, “An Examination of S. 772, the 
Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the Subcomm. on Antitrust, 
Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 2007, p. 9. 
See also, The Honorable Herb Kohl, Unites States Senator, Wisconsin, “An Examination 
of S. 772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” Statement before the United States 
Senate Committee on the Judiciary, October 3, 2007, p. 1. 
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• There is a lack of competition in rail providers.58 

• Captive shippers are facing increased prices and/or declining 
service.59 

Arguments against eliminating antitrust exemptions: 

• Railroads are already subject to some federal antitrust laws.60  

• It would create a difficult regulatory environment because 
customers would have private civil injunctive relief.61 

• It could lead to dual enforcement concerns with regard to 
mergers.62 

21C. INVESTMENT TAX CREDIT   
The proposed Freight Rail Infrastructure Capacity Expansion Act 

of 2007 (S. 1125, H.R. 2116) would amend the IRS Code of 1986 to 
provide investment incentives for freight rail capacity expansion and 
“enhance modal tax equity.” The Senate bill was sponsored by Senator 
                                                                                                                         
57 Darren Bush, Associate Professor of Law, University of Houston Law Center, “The 
Intersection of Competition Policy and Surface Transportation Regulatory Policy: An 
Examination of S. 772, The Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, p. 5. 
58 The Honorable Herb Kohl, Unites States Senator, Wisconsin, “An Examination of S. 
772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” Statement before the Subcomm. on 
Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 
2007, p. 1. 
59 The Honorable Herb Kohl, Unites States Senator, Wisconsin, “An Examination of S. 
772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” Statement before the Subcomm. on 
Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 
2007, p. 2. 
60 Charles D. Nottingham, Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board, “An 
Examination of S. 772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, pp. 3-4. See also Paul Moates, on Behalf of the Association of 
American Railroads, “An Examination of S. 772, The Railroad Antitrust Enforcement 
Act,” testimony before the Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of 
the Senate Judiciary Comm., October 3, 2007, pp. 3-4. 
61 Charles D. Nottingham, Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board, “An 
Examination of S. 772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, pp. 5-6. 
62 Charles D. Nottingham, Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board, “An 
Examination of S. 772, the Railroad Antitrust Enforcement Act,” testimony before the 
Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition and Consumer Rights of the Senate Judiciary 
Comm., October 3, 2007, pp. 15-18. 
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Trent Lott of Mississippi and the House bill is sponsored by 
Representative Kendrick Meek of Florida. The Senate and House bills are 
substantially similar. These bills are also similar to the previously 
proposed Freight Rail Infrastructure Capacity Expansion Act of 2006, also 
sponsored by Senator Lott.63 

These bills do not change any existing statute. Rather, this act 
would add a section to the IRS Code of 1986 whereby a tax credit is 
provided for 25% of the cost of new, qualified freight rail infrastructure 
property and new, qualified locomotive property put into service in the tax 
year. The 2007 bills propose termination of these investment incentives 
after 2012.64 These bills provide rules regarding qualified infrastructure 
property as well as rules regarding qualified locomotive property.  

Rail infrastructure property that qualifies for the tax credit includes 
facilities, track and ways, operating equipment, and certain other property, 
provided that “the cost… is chargeable to capital account.”65 The bills 
specify that qualified infrastructure excludes “property which is replacing 
existing property” at the same location.66 However, expenditures on 
“replacement or expansion of a bridge or tunnel to allow for additional 
clearance, track, or other capacity enhancement where such clearance, 
track, or other capacity enhancement did not previously exist” would 
qualify for the tax credit.67 

The cost of locomotive property may qualify for the tax credit if 
the purchased property is new, meets EPA emissions standards, and results 
in a net increase in “the total horsepower of all locomotives owned by, or 
leased to, the taxpayer” in the tax year.68 The tax credit is subject to 
recapture with respect to qualified locomotive property if that property is 
“sold or otherwise disposed of by the taxpayer” within five years of 
putting the property into service, unless the property is leased back to the 
taxpayer after sale.69 

Specifically excluded from the tax credit are land, rolling stock 
(with the exception of qualified locomotive property), and certain property 
predominantly outside the U.S. The bills also include a provision for 
taxpayers to elect to expense the cost of qualified freight rail infrastructure 
property (i.e., deduct all costs in the current tax year) not chargeable to a 
capital account. 
 

63 This bill did not become law. S. 3742, 109th Congress, 2nd Sess. (2006). 
64 S.1125, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. (2007). 
65 S.1125, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 2 (a) (2007). 
66 S.1125, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 2 (a) (2007). 
67 S.1125, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 2 (a) (2007). 
68 S.1125, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 2 (a) (2007). 
69 S.1125, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 2 (a) (2007). 
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Senate and House committee hearings have not yet been held 
regarding these bills. However, some industry groups have publicized 
their support for these bills, and certain entities commented on the 
proposed investment tax credit at the STB Hearing on Rail Capacity and 
Infrastructure Requirements held in April 2007.70 At this hearing, 
respondents acknowledged the need for increased investment in freight 
rail infrastructure. Multiple respondents viewed the proposed investment 
tax credit as a way to, as one respondent phrased it, “bridge the funding 
gap” between the level of investment necessary to meet growing demand 
for freight rail and the level of investment rail carriers are currently able to 
commit to infrastructure expansion.71 However, some respondents stated 
that such a tax credit should be coupled with increased oversight of the rail 
industry and infrastructure investment in particular.72 Many respondents 
noted public benefits from the use of rail for freight transportation and 
some cited such benefits as justification for the proposed tax credit.73  

21D. SUMMARY OF STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK ON POLICY 
PROPOSALS 

As discussed in Chapter 5, a number of stakeholders that provided 
input to us in the qualitative phase of this project expressed opinions about 
proposed railroad industry legislation and/or STB reforms. We reproduce 
a summary of that input here. 

Legislative Proposals 
There was mixed support among shippers for the various bills 

pending before Congress. A number of respondents who supported 
legislative reforms stated that they believed Canadian rail regulation 
would work in the U.S. For example, some shippers believe that final-
offer arbitration and zone switching (i.e., reciprocal switching) would 
improve competitiveness. In support of zone switching, some shippers 
noted that where reciprocal switching exists in the U.S, they benefit from 

 

70 This hearing predated the current bills (S. 1125, H.R. 2116), but respondents discussed 
the 2006 version of the proposed tax credit (S. 3742 of the 109th Congress). 
71 See, for example, Edward R. Hamberger, President and CEO of the Association of 
American Railroads, comments before the Surface Transportation Board, Rail Capacity 
and Infrastructure Requirements, STB Ex Parte No. 671, April 4, 2007, p. 31.  
72 See, for example, National Grain and Feed Association Comments before the Surface 
Transportation Board, STB Ex Parte No. 671, Rail Capacity and Infrastructure 
Requirements, April 4, 2007, p. 5. 
73 See, for example, Norfolk Southern Railway Company Statements before the Surface 
Transportation Board, STB Ex Parte No. 671, Rail Capacity and Infrastructure 
Requirements, April 4, 2007, pp. 15-16. 
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greater competitive options. Other shippers supported reciprocal switching 
and bottleneck rates as ways of increasing competition.  

While many respondents did not believe that the proposal to 
remove antitrust exemptions would produce any benefits, others believed 
that the removal of the exemptions is needed to make the industry more 
competitive. Those supporting the removal of the antitrust exemptions also 
thought it is important for the DOJ to have oversight powers in the event 
of future merger proposals.  

Railroads, some shippers, and financial analysts expressed the 
opinion that the proposed legislative reforms would result in less 
investment and, thus, exacerbate capacity problems. A few consultants and 
academics also expressed the view that many of the issues, which the 
proposed legislative reforms are attempting to resolve, are not effectively 
addressed because true solutions require a comprehensive, multi-modal 
view of transportation issues; the issues and solutions are bigger than just 
rail. Finally, as noted above, there is disagreement on whether more needs 
to be done on the paper barrier issue. 

STB Reforms 
An opinion expressed by a number of respondents is that the 

various legislative reforms are not necessary and that the focus should be 
on making the STB work better. These respondents hold the opinion that, 
overall, the current system is working well and that the real need is for 
more effective protections for those shippers who do not have competitive 
alternatives. However, other respondents expressed the view that the STB 
has created a situation where legislative reform is necessary—e.g., “by 
giving the railroads an unregulated monopoly, the STB has made certain 
that the only way the situation can be made tolerable is through legislation 
by Congress.” 

One of the major criticisms of the STB’s procedures focuses on the 
SAC process, which is viewed as expensive, time-consuming and one-
sided. In addition, a number of shippers commented that changes in the 
STB’s procedures made the SAC process a moving target that added 
expense and time to the process. In this regard, most shippers who have 
access to the large rate case process said they would not use it. Some 
shippers, who believe that the SAC process is one-sided in favor or 
railroads, reported that railroads use this process in their rate negotiations 
as leverage. Other comments relating to the STB include the definition of 
“effective competition” (based on access to more than one railroad) 
prohibits STB oversight in cases where railroads are not behaving 
competitively. Closely related to this point, imposing trackage rights as a 
condition of merger in “2:1” situations has not successfully resolved 
anticompetitive situations. 
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CONCLUSION 
There are a number of proposed policy changes for reforming 

railroad regulation currently under consideration through proposed 
legislation. These policy changes include requiring rail carriers to provide 
rates and routes for bottleneck segments, reciprocal switching, and 
terminal agreements. Another proposed change would prescribe 
interchange commitments in track sale/lease agreements. Legislation has 
also been introduced in both Houses of Congress proposing to end 
antitrust immunity for STB-approved rates and combinations. Finally, 
legislation designed to increase investment in rail infrastructure has also 
been proposed. The GAO has described many of these policy changes as 
well as the potential benefits and costs associated with each.  

In the next chapter, we assess the economic impact of these 
proposed changes. In doing so, our focus is the effects of policy changes 
on economic efficiency (i.e., price and output effects). Our empirical 
analysis is based on our quantitative results and the most recent economic 
literature on railroad policy analysis. Policy changes will likely produce 
winners and losers—i.e., what are commonly referred to as “distributional 
effects.”  conomic analysis can help inform who will gain and who will 
lose and by how much, but economic analysis cannot independently offer 
judgments about the desirability of the distributional impacts caused by 
policy changes. In this respect, the goal of our study is to produce 
information on distributional impacts that will be useful in policy debates 
among relevant stakeholders. 











Volume 3 22-19 

three-benchmark methodology, but the STB’s decision is currently under 
appeal.21 In September 2007, the STB modified its simplified guidelines 
and also created a simplified SAC approach for use  in medium-sized 
disputes challenging the reasonableness of rates.22 In October 2007, E.I. 
du Pont de Nemours and Company (DuPont) filed three amended 
complaints challenging the reasonableness of rates charged by CSX 
Transportation, Inc. (CSX) for seven freight rail movements.23 DuPont 
proceeded under the “three-benchmark method” as described below, 
using the newly revised simplified guidelines. On June 30, 2008, the 
STB’s decisions were delivered on the three cases, awarding DuPont up 
to $3 million (the maximum award of up to $1 million for each of the 
three freight rail complaint cases) and setting a rate prescription for six 
of the seven challenged movements. CSX has appealed the STB’s 
decision to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, 
stating that the rate decision was “an abuse of discretion, and not 
supported by substantial evidence.”24 

Given that the STB has initiated recent changes to adopt 
simplified guidelines, it would be appropriate to conduct a review of 
those changes at some time in the near future, to determine whether they 
have proved to be practical simplifications that facilitate the regulatory 
process and whether any further changes would be desirable. 

Alternative Cost Methodology to STB’s Stand-Alone Cost 
Methodology 

As described in Chapter 21, the Railroad Competition and 
Service Improvement Act of 2007 contains provisions for an alternative 
cost methodology for the STB to use in determining the reasonableness 
of rates. These provisions would require the STB to change its 
reasonableness of rates standard. Specifically, Section 302 of S. 953 
calls for a method for determining rate reasonableness:25 

 

21 E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. v. CSX Transportation, Inc., STB Docket No. 42099 
(STB served June 30, 2008); E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. v. CSX Transportation, 
Inc., STB Docket No. 42100 (STB served June 30, 2008); E.I. Dupont de Nemours & 
Co. v. CSX Transportation, Inc., STB Docket No. 42101 (STB served June 30, 2008). 
22 Simplified Standards for Rail Rate Cases, Ex Parte No. 646 (Sub-No. 1) (STB served 
September 5, 2007), p. 1. 
23 E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. v. CSX Transportation, Inc., STB Docket No. 42099 
(STB served June 30, 2008); E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. v. CSX Transportation, 
Inc., STB Docket No. 42100 (STB served June 30, 2008); E.I. Dupont de Nemours & 
Co. v. CSX Transportation, Inc., STB Docket No. 42101 (STB served June 30, 2008). 
24 J. Boyd, CSX Appeals DuPont Decision, Traffic World Online, July 17, 2008, 
http://www.trafficworld.com/newssection/rail.asp?id=47087 (as viewed July 17, 2008). 
25 S. 953, 110th Congress, 1st Sess. § 302 (2007). 




